RECEIVED

May 24 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Darlington County
Court of Common Pleas
Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge
Patrick J. McLaughlin, Special Referee

Case No. 2020-CP-16-00299
Appellate Case No. 2023-001016

Samantha Joanne Carwile, individually and
as the Personal Representative of the Estate
of Marlayna Joan Carwile,

Respondent,

vs.

Chris Anderson and Danielle Anderson,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

HOOD LAW FIRM, LLC

James B. Hood (70212)
james.hood@hoodlaw.com
Deborah Harrison Sheffield, *Of Counsel* (2757)
deborah.sheffield@hoodlaw.com
172 Meeting Street
Post Office Box 1508
Charleston, SC 29401/02

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

THE SPECIAL REFEREE'S LACK OF JURISDICTIONAL AUTHORITY

- I. Did the Special Referee lack jurisdictional authority to rule on any motions or award damages where the Clerk of Court did not have jurisdictional authority to appoint the Special Referee or sign an order of reference without the Defendants' consent as required by S.C. Code §14-17-250 and §14-11-60?
 - A. Did the Special Referee err as a matter of law in holding that Rule 53 authorized the Clerk of Court to appoint and refer a matter to a special referee without consent of the Defendants where §14-11-60 and §14-17-250 both require consent of the parties?
 - B. Did the Special Referee err as a matter of law in ruling that the lack of jurisdiction had been waived because a lack of jurisdiction authority can be raised at any time?
 - C. Did the Special Referee err as a matter of law in applying the law of the case doctrine because Defendants were not required to appeal from the interlocutory order of reference?
- II. Did the Special Referee lack jurisdictional authority to rule on the motion to set aside the default entered on Judge Birch's Rule 37 sanctions order?

THE HARSH SANCTION DEFAULT

- III. Did the Circuit Court Judge abuse his discretion in striking the Defendants' answer where the Plaintiff did not make a sufficient showing of egregious discovery violations to justify the harsh sanction that placed the Defendants in default?
- IV. Did the Special Referee err in ruling that the Rule 55 motion to set aside the sanctions default was not a timely and proper procedure to seek review of Judge Burch's sanction order?
- V. Did the Special Referee abuse his discretion in denying the Rule 55 motion where the Defendants made a showing of good cause to set aside the entry of the sanctions default?
 - A. Did the Special Referee err in ruling that the Defendants took inconsistent positions about the defaults and in misapplying judicial estoppel?
 - B. Did the Special Referee err in considering the evidence of the course of the proceedings which showed that discovery violations were a result of Defense Counsel having abandoned his clients?

THE EXCESSIVE AWARD OF \$30 MILLION IN ACTUAL DAMAGES

- VI. Did the Special Referee err in considering matters beyond the legitimate, recoverable elements of damages for a wrongful death award in making his award of \$30 million?
 - A. Did the Special Referee err in considering the Parents' loss of work income and diminished earning capacity because those matters do not constitute legitimate, recoverable "pecuniary loss" for the wrongful death of their child?
 - B. Did the Special Referee err in considering the deterioration of the Parents' relationship with each other because any such loss is not a legitimate, recoverable element of damages?
 - C. Did the Special Referee err in considering the emotional damage suffered by the Child's surviving brother because he is not a statutory beneficiary entitled to any recovery for the loss of his sister?
 - D. Did the Special Referee err in allowing the Parents to recover for the emotional damage they suffered by witnessing the immediate aftermath of the accident because they had dropped their bystander claim?

- VII. Is the Special Referee's award of \$30 million unduly liberal and/or grossly excessive in comparison to other awards for the wrongful death of minor children as reviewed in opinions from the South Carolina Appellate Courts?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This wrongful death action arises from the death of Marlayna Joan Carwile, the three-year-old daughter of Samantha Carwile and Justin Baxter, who died on December 6, 2017, when she was struck by a car while crossing the road to return home from visiting at a neighbors' house. Samantha Carwile, individually and as personal representative of her child's estate, commenced this action against the neighbors, Chris Anderson and Danielle Anderson, alleging that they were negligent in failing to supervise her daughter, and asserting claims for Breach of Fiduciary Duty and Assumed Duty In Loco Parentis, Negligence/Gross Negligence/Negligence Per Se, Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress, Loss of Services and Companionship, a Survival Action, and a Wrongful Death action. [ROA 95; Complaint, filed March 17, 2020.]

When the Defendants failed to answer, Plaintiff made a motion for entry of default. [ROA 111, 107, 109; Motion, affidavits, filed June 10, 2020.] The Clerk of Court entered default on June 15, 2020. [ROA 1; Entry of Default.] On June 29, 2020, Thurmond Brooker, Esq. made a Notice of Appearance on behalf of the Defendants along with a Rule 55(c) motion to set aside entry of default. [ROA 753, 114; Notice, Motion.] Affidavits were filed on August 3, 2020, in support of the Defendants' Rule 55(c) motion. [ROA 136, 137. Affidavits.] The Rule 55(c) motion came before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Judge, who granted the motion and set aside the entry of default. [ROA 3; Order, filed May 26, 2021.] Thereafter, an answer was filed on June 11, 2021. [ROA 197; Answer.]

During discovery, Defendants failed to respond to discovery requests including Requests for Admission, Standard and Supplemental Interrogatories, and Requests for Production. [ROA 203; See Motion to Compel.] Plaintiff's counsel contacted Defendants' counsel regarding the discovery requests, but when Mr. Brooker failed to respond to the inquiries, Plaintiff then filed a

motion to compel. [ROA 200, 203, 258 Motion to compel June 23, 2022, with exhibits.] Defense Counsel did not respond to the motion to compel and neither Defense Counsel nor the Defendants appeared at the hearing on the motion. [ROA 9; see 7/21/22 Order.] Judge Burch granted the motion and issued an order compelling discovery on July 21, 2022. [ROA 9; Order.]

When the Defendants failed to comply with the order compelling discovery, the Plaintiff filed a Rule 37 motion for sanctions on September 28, 2022. [ROA 259; Motion.] Again, Defense Counsel did not respond to the motion for sanctions, and neither Defense Counsel nor the Defendants appeared at the hearing on the motion. [See ROA 12; 11/17/22 Order.] By order filed November 17, 2022, Judge Burch granted the motion and sanctioned the Defendants by striking their answer.¹ [ROA 12; Order.]

Plaintiff filed a motion of entry of default on November 28, 2022. [ROA 262; Motion.] The Clerk of Court entered the default on November 29, 2022. [ROA 262, 16; Motion, Order.] Plaintiff moved to refer the case to a special referee on February 9, 2023. [ROA 266; Motion.] The very next day, on February 10, 2023, without allowing any time for response or hearing, the Clerk of Court granted the Plaintiff's motion and appointed Patrick J. McLaughlin as Special Referee. [ROA 18; Order.]

Plaintiff filed a motion for a damages hearing on March 7, 2023. [ROA 268; Motion.] The next day, March 8, 2023, the Special Referee set the hearing for April 13, 2023. [ROA 270; Notice of hearing.] On April 12, 2023, Andrew MacLeod, Esq., made an appearance on behalf of the Defendants and filed a Rule 55 motion to set aside the entry of default. [ROA 272; Motion. See ROA 749; Docket sheet entry 4/12/23.]

¹ In this order, the Court recounts that Plaintiff's counsel had acknowledged that his office had, in fact, received responses to Plaintiff's Requests for Admission at some point. [ROA 12; 11/17/22 Order n. 1.]

The damages hearing was held before the Special Referee on April 13, 2023. [ROA 343-417; Tr. 1-74.] At the hearing, Plaintiff withdrew her claims for survival, negligent infliction of emotional distress, and punitive damages. Plaintiff limited her request for default judgment to the wrongful death claim. [ROA 348-349, 403; 4/13/23 Tr. 6-7, 61.] Mr. MacLeod appeared for the Defendants. Testimony was given by the Plaintiff Mother and the Father, and by a trauma counselor via deposition. [ROA 418; Ex. 1.] The Special Referee also heard argument on the Rule 55(c) motion. Thereafter, on May 23, 2023, the Special Referee issued his order finding that each parent was entitled to damages of \$15,000,000, for a total judgment award of \$30,000,000. [ROA 21; Order.] On May 23, 2023, the Special Referee issued a separate order denying the Rule 55 motion for relief from entry of default. [ROA 30; Order.]

On June 2, 2023, the Defendants filed a posttrial motion pursuant to Rules 52(b) and 59(e), to alter and/or amend the judgment. [ROA 275; Motion.] The Defendants also filed a Rule 59(e) for reconsideration of the denial of the Rule 55 motion to set aside the entry of default. [ROA 279; Motion.] When the Special Referee had not ruled upon the posttrial motions within 30 days, the Defendants filed a notice of appeal on June 22, 2023. [ROA 733; NOA, with cover letter.] The Plaintiff/Respondent moved to dismiss the appeal as premature because the posttrial motions were still pending, but the Court ordered that the appeal be held in abeyance and remanded the case to the Special Referee to rule on the pending motions. [ROA 738, 741, 742; Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, Appellants' Return, 7/17/23 Order of Remand.]

On remand, the parties submitted memoranda as directed by the Special Referee and the motions were heard on September 15, 2023. [ROA 286, 320, 478-528; Plaintiff's MIO, Defendants' Reply, 9/15/23 transcript.] On November 2, 2023, the Special Referee issued two orders: (1) an Order denying the June 2nd posttrial motions; and (2) an Amended Order of Default

Judgment with certain revisions but without any change of the award of \$30 million. [ROA 36, 55; Orders.] The Defendants filed and served an amended notice of appeal on November 13, 2023. [ROA 744; Amended Notice of Appeal.]

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Marlayna Joan Carwile [the Child] was the three-year-old daughter of Samantha Carwile and Justin Baxter. The Child died on December 6, 2017, when she was struck by a car while crossing the road to return to her home from the home of Chris and Samantha Anderson, who lived across the road from the Carwile/Baxter home. As alleged in the Complaint, the Andersons had invited and/or permitted the Child to play at their house on that day and that they “agreed to care for, babysit, and otherwise watch” the Child as well as her minor brother, and her minor uncle, at the Anderson home. The minor brother – Rylan – was approximately 7 years old. [ROA 442; Lobo Dep. 24/13-19.] The minor uncle, Mother’s brother, who accompanied the Child on this visit across the street was 14 years old at the time. [ROA 367; 4/13/23 Tr. 25/19-21]

It is further alleged in the Complaint that, by agreeing to babysit and welcoming the children into their home, the Andersons assumed a duty to supervise the children, and that they breached that duty by allowing the children to play in the yard unsupervised. However, the Andersons had denied in their answer that they invited the children to play at their home and denied that they agreed or promised to care for the children. [ROA 197; Answer.] Accordingly to Mrs. Anderson, the Child (along with the older brother and teenage uncle) showed up at her house asking to play with her children but she said no, and said they had to return home. While Mrs. Anderson was unloading groceries from her car, she heard a scream and saw that the Child had been hit by a car. [ROA 138; Affidavit 8/3/20.] Since the Andersons had been ruled in default,

there was virtually no evidence regarding the alleged agreement by the Andersons to babysit or their allegedly negligent supervision of the neighbor children.

The Mother and Father were not married. However, according to the testimony at the damages trial, they had an “atypical coparenting” relationship. [ROA 362; 4/13/23 Tr. 20/20.] After the Child was born, the Father would visit regularly, but at some point, he moved into the Mother’s home and they were cohabitating at the time of the accident. [ROA 364; 4/13/23 Tr. 22.] Both Mother and Father were home at the time of the accident. [ROA 366, 391; 4/13/23 Tr. 24, 49.] Mother had laid down to take a nap after she got off of work, and the Father was washing dishes. [ROA 366, 391; 4/13/23 Tr. 24, 49.] Mother was awoken by Father who told her to call 911, and then she rushed outside where she saw her Child laying in the arms of the minor uncle². [ROA 366; 4/13/23 Tr. 24.] As a nurse, Mother knew that her daughter was gone. [ROA 367, 383; 4/13/23 Tr. 25, 41.] The EMS arrived quickly and confirmed that the Child was dead. [ROA 368; 4/13/23 Tr. 26.]

The other evidence adduced at the damages hearing predominantly revolved around establishing the Parents’ emotional pain and suffering. The Mother testified about how her life changed the months following this tragedy, including experiencing difficulties with sleep, loss of appetite, headaches, somach aches, panic attacks, nightmares, anxiety, stress, loneliness, grief and sorrow. [ROA 371, 377, 379, 400; 4/13/23 Tr. 29, 35, 37, 58.] She was diagnosed with P.T.S.D., severe anxiety, and depression. [ROA 376; 4/13/23 Tr. 34.] She was out of work from her job as a registered nurse for 11 months.³ [ROA 379; 4/13/23 Tr. 37.] Some months after the accident,

² Mother’s 14-year-old brother.

³ There was no evidence presented regarding the monetary value of the Mother’s lost wages.

the Mother and her son moved to Florida to get away from triggering bad memories. [ROA 372, 376; Tr. 4/13/23 30, 34.] The Mother testified that the death of their Child broke the relationship she had with the Father. [ROA 375, 378; 4/13/23 Tr. 33, 36.] The Mother also testified that the death of the Child affected her surviving son, who had trouble at school, bad grades, and explosive emotions. [ROA 375; 4/13/23 Tr. 33.]

The Father testified about how he experienced terror and panic when he saw his Child immediately after the accident. [ROA 391; 4/13/23 Tr. 49.] The Father further testified he suffered from severe depression with loneliness, panic attacks, high anxiety, nightmares, loss of appetite, trouble sleeping and withdrawal from society. [ROA 399-400, 402; 4/13/23 Tr. 57-58, 60.] The Father testified that he attended counseling and he was diagnosed with P.T.S.D., severe anxiety and depression, and intermittent explosive disorder. [ROA 396; 4/13/23 Tr. 54.] The Father had moved to Florida with the Mother and her son but after the split up, he moved around numerous times before settling in his home state of Virginia. [ROA 386, 397, 398; 4/13/23 Tr. 44, 55, 56.] At the time of the damages trial, the Father was living in Virginia with his girlfriend and their new seventh-month-old baby girl. [ROA 385; 4/13/23 Tr. 43.] The Father testified that at the time of the death of his Child he was employed as a security officer at the Robinson Nuclear Power Plant making \$50,000-\$60,000 annually. [ROA 387; 4/13/23 Tr. 45.] The Father did not work for three years after the accident, but he was receiving disability pay during that time. [ROA 393; 4/13/23 Tr. 51.] At the time of the hearing, the Father was working security as a resort in Virginia making \$24,000 annually. [ROA 386; 4/13/23 Tr. 44.]

Testimony was also submitted in the form of a de bene esse deposition from a licensed mental health counselor, Vanessa Lobo, who testified regarding her trauma counseling with the

Mother and her surviving son. [ROA 418; Exhibit 1⁴.] The counseling sessions began the day after the accident and continued for eight months until they moved to Florida. [ROA 430, 433; Dep. 12, 15.] The counselor testified that the Mother experienced depression, hopelessness, feelings of shame and guilt, and that she had trouble sleeping, lack of energy, and trouble dealing with everyday tasks. [ROA 435-437; Dep. 17-19.] The counselor also testified that after the accident, the Mother had difficulty with her relationship with the Child's Father, and trouble connecting with her surviving son. [ROA 434, 435; Dep. 16, 17.] The counselor opined that the Mother suffered wounded feelings, mental shock and suffering, grief, and sorrow. [ROA 440-441; Dep. 22-23.] The counselor further opined that the Mother would need long-term, if not permanent, counseling and treatment to deal with the trauma. [ROA 440; Dep. 22.] The counselor testified that the surviving son was sad, mopey, disengaged, and suffered feelings of guilt. [ROA 442-443; Dep. 24-25.]

ARGUMENT

THE SPECIAL REFEREE'S LACK OF JURISDICTIONAL AUTHORITY

Standard of Review:

“The jurisdiction of a court or of a particular judge over the subject matter of a proceeding depends upon the authority granted by the Constitution and laws of the state and is fundamental.”

Harden v. S.C. State Highway Dep't, 266 S.C. 119, 124, 221 S.E.2d 851, 853 (1976).

Jurisdiction is generally defined as “the authority to decide a given case one way or the other. Without jurisdiction, a court cannot proceed at all in any cause; jurisdiction is the power to declare law, and when it ceases to exist, the only function remaining to a court is that of announcing the fact and dismissing the cause.” 32A Am.Jur.2d Federal Courts § 581 (2007) (footnotes omitted). Specifically, “[j]urisdiction is composed of three elements: (1) personal jurisdiction; (2) subject matter jurisdiction; and (3) the court's power to render the

⁴ The Counselor was deposed on August 3, 2020, before Judge Birch granted the Andersons' Rule 55(c) motion to set aside the original entry of default. The Andersons' attorney was not present.

particular judgment requested.” Indep. Sch. Dist. No. 1 of Okla. County v. Scott, 15 P.3d 1244, 1248 (Okla.Civ.App.2000).

Limehouse v. Hulsey, 404 S.C. 93, 104, 744 S.E.2d 566, 572 (2013). At issue in this appeal is the Special Referee’s lack of jurisdictional authority to rule on any of the motions and render a final judgment against these Defendants.

Patrick J. McLaughlin, Esq. was appointed as Special Referee by the Darlington County Clerk of Court who signed an order referring this case to him under the purported authority of Rule 53, SCRPC. The Appellants maintain that the Clerk of Court lacked jurisdictional authority to appoint a special referee and refer this matter without the consent of both parties as required by S.C. Code Ann. §14-11-60 and § 14-17-250. This question of the Special Referee’s and the Clerk of Court’s jurisdictional authority to act is a question of law which is subject to de novo review on appeal. *See Seels v. Smalls*, 437 S.C. 167, 171–72, 877 S.E.2d 351, 353–54 (2022) (“Questions of law involving subject matter jurisdiction and statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo, without deference to the lower courts.”).

I. The Special Referee lacked jurisdictional authority to rule on any motions or award damages because the Clerk of Court did not have jurisdictional authority to appoint the Special Referee or sign an order of reference without the Defendants’ consent.

Applicable Law regarding Appointment of and Referrals to Special Referees

RULE 53, of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in pertinent part:

(a) Master and Special Referee Defined. The term “master” means the master-in-equity for the county. The term “special referee” means a member of the South Carolina Bar to whom a matter has been referred under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-11-60.

(b) References. In an action where the parties consent, in a default case, or an action for foreclosure, some or all of the causes of action in a case may be referred to a master or special referee by order of a circuit judge or the clerk of court. In all other actions, the circuit court may, upon application of any party or upon its own motion, direct a reference of some or all of the causes of action in a case. Any party may request a jury pursuant to Rule 38 on any or all issues triable of right by a jury and,

upon the filing of a jury demand, the matter shall be returned to the circuit court. A case shall not be referred to a master or special referee for the purpose of making a report to the circuit court. The clerk shall promptly provide the master or special referee with a copy of the order of reference.

S.C. Code Ann. § 14-11-60, as referenced in Rule 53, provides that “the presiding circuit court judge” can appoint a special referee if all the parties agree:

In case of a vacancy in the office of master-in-equity or in case of the disqualification or disability of the master-in-equity from interest or any other reason for which cause can be shown **the presiding circuit court judge, upon agreement of the parties, may appoint a special referee** in any case who as to the case has all the powers of a master-in-equity. The special referee must be compensated by the parties involved in the action. (Emphasis added.)

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