RECEIVED

May 23 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge  
Patrick J. McLaughlin, Special Referee

Appellate Case No. 2023-001016

Samantha Joanne Carwile, individually and  
as the Personal Representative of the Estate  
of Marlayna Joan Carwile,.....Respondent,

v.

Chris Anderson and Danielle Anderson,.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC  
Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854  
P.O. Box 897  
Hampton, SC 29924  
803-943-4529  
kbarnes@barneslawfirm.com

YARBOROUGH APPEL GATE LLC  
David B. Yarborough, Jr., SC Bar No. 15515

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

**ARGUMENT**

At every step of this case, Carwile has complied with the rules to pursue the action. Each time, the Andersons have failed to respond. The Special Referee went to great lengths to fully explain his rulings and reasoning for the amount awarded. A cold reading of the damages hearing

transcript is itself moving, but the Referee heard Samantha and Justin’s voices and saw their faces as they relived Marlayna’s death and their constant sufferings. Their suffering is unique to Marlayna’s life, their family unit, and their loss and grieving. It supports a \$30 million award.

The objective of the Andersons’ appeal is to void the order of reference **and** to be able to challenge the sanctions order because, without both of those things, the law of the case is that the Andersons’ answer is “stricken from the record.” (R. p. 13). With this goal in mind, it is apparent why and how they have crafted the arguments now presented to this court—many of which are untimely, unpreserved, and waived.

Through no fault of her own, Carwile has suffered through three years of the Andersons’ failures to respond to this lawsuit, even after being let out of default and being given chances to respond to discovery and appear at hearings. With whom the fault lies among the Andersons, Allstate, and Mr. Brooker is not the concern of this case. The point is that Carwile has done everything possible to try to litigate this case. Now, after years of failures, the Andersons make untimely and legally unsupported jurisdictional and procedural arguments.

The Special Referee and Clerk of Court followed proper procedures in this case, and all of the orders are valid. The orders are also fully supported by the law and evidence, and this Court should affirm them and remand for enforcement of the judgment.

**I. The Sanctions Order and Order of Reference are the unappealable law of the case.**

The Court should dismiss the Andersons’ appeal of the Sanctions Order and the Order of Reference as untimely because they were required to immediately appeal both orders.

On November 17, 2022, Judge Burch entered the Sanctions Order. (R. pp. 12-15). It ordered the Andersons’ “Answer be stricken from the record pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure 37(b)(2)(C) and 37(d)” and that “upon application by the Plaintiff, default be entered into against Defendants.” (R. p. 13). The court entered the corresponding Order for Entry

of Default on November 29, 2022. The Andersons did not file a motion to reconsider or immediately appeal either of these orders, which should be construed together as effectively a single order. An immediate appeal was mandatory under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2)(a) and (c).

The entry of default under Rule 37 resulted in the Andersons' waiver of their right to a jury trial under Rule 38(d), SCRCP. *Gossett v. Gilliam*, 317 S.C. 82, 87, 452 S.E.2d 6, 9 (Ct. App. 1994) (“Where a party is in default, the right to a jury trial is waived pursuant to Rule 38(d), SCRCP.”). Because this affected the mode of trial, they were required to immediately appeal. As this Court held, “[o]rders affecting the mode of trial affect substantial rights protected by statute and must, therefore, be immediately appealed.” *Satcher v. Satcher*, 351 S.C. 477, 490, 570 S.E.2d 535, 542 (Ct. App. 2002). “[A]n interlocutory order that falls within the purview of § 14-3-330(2)(a) must be immediately appealed if it is to be considered at all, and [] there is no review available after final judgment.” *Neeltec Enters. v. Long*, 397 S.C. 563, 567, 725 S.E.2d 926, 928 (2012). Here, because the Sanctions Order and Order for Entry of Default had the effect of eliminating the right to a jury trial, the Andersons were required to immediately appeal both orders.

Likewise, the Order of Reference was entered on February 10, 2023, and referred the case to the Special Referee for a damages hearing. (R. pp. 18-20). Under Rule 53(c), SCRCP, “[o]nce referred, the master or special referee shall exercise all power and authority which a circuit judge sitting **without a jury** would have in a similar matter.” (emphasis added). This falls under § 14-3-330(2) and necessarily affects the mode of trial. As such, the order must be immediately appealed. *Edwards v. Timmons*, 297 S.C. 314, 316, 377 S.E.2d 97, 97 (1988) (“Seller did not appeal the order of reference which is therefore the law of the case.”); *Creed v. Stokes*, 285 S.C. 542, 543, 331 S.E.2d 351, 352 (1985) (holding “[t]he order [of reference to a master] was not

interlocutory, and should have been appealed immediately because it affected the mode of trial, a substantial right,” and citing S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2)).

The Andersons argue that, because they do not challenge “the order of reference as abridging their right to a jury trial,” it does not affect the mode of trial. (Br. of App. p. 19). The Andersons cannot manipulate appealability by how they frame a challenge to an order. The relevant point is the effect of the order. *See Thornton v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Corp.*, 391 S.C. 297, 303, 705 S.E.2d 475, 478 (Ct. App. 2011) (stating “a narrow construction of section 14-3-330(2)(c) requires us to focus on the effect of the order, not the label given to the motion or to the order granting it”). The effect of the Order of Reference is to remove the case from a jury.

Finally, *Link v. School Dist. of Pickens Cnty.*, 302 S.C. 1, 393 S.E.2d 176 (1990), does not support the Andersons’ argument that they could wait to appeal. *Link* involved an order granting summary judgment on one but not all claims before a trial. *Id.* at 3, 393 S.E.2d at 177. This case involves an order of reference. The effects of those orders are wholly different.

Because the Andersons did not file an appeal within thirty days of the orders, their appeal is untimely, this Court lacks jurisdiction, and it must dismiss the appeal as to the orders.

**II. The Andersons waived any challenge to the Special Referee’s authority by specifically invoking it and failing to timely object.**

Even if the Andersons’ appeal of the Order of Reference is viewed as timely, the Special Referee correctly ruled the Andersons waived any challenge to the order by specifically invoking the Referee’s authority and failing to object at the damages and motion hearing. (R. pp. 64-67).

The Andersons waived a challenge to the Special Referee’s authority first by failing to appeal the Order of Reference, second by invoking his authority when they filed a motion to set aside default with him, and third by failing to object to the Special Referee’s authority at the damages hearing. During each of these times, the Andersons were represented by counsel.

The Andersons argue their appellate argument may be raised at any time because it challenges jurisdiction, citing to law that subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time. (Br. of App. pp. 16-17). The Andersons are conflating actual subject matter jurisdiction—which they do not challenge—and “jurisdictional authority, as in the power to rule,” citing to *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 744 S.E.2d 566 (2013). (Br. of App. p. 17; R. p. 484). *Limehouse* merely explains that “jurisdiction is composed of three elements: (1) personal jurisdiction; (2) subject matter jurisdiction; and (3) the court’s power to render the particular judgment requested.” *Id.* at 104, 744 S.E.2d at 572 (internal quotation and alteration marks omitted). “‘Power’ refers to the court’s ability, when it has subject matter jurisdiction, to grant equitable and legal relief to a party.” *Id.* at 106, 744 S.E.2d at 573 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The Circuit Court doubtless had subject matter jurisdiction over this personal injury action and personal jurisdiction over the parties. The Andersons do not suggest otherwise. The Circuit Court also had the third prong of jurisdiction, as it undoubtedly had the power to enter a monetary judgment against the Andersons. Of course, a special referee acts in the shoes of the Circuit Court and has the same subject matter jurisdiction as the Circuit Court and the same power of the court to enter a monetary judgment in a personal injury action.

The Circuit Court’s referral of the case to a master-in-equity or special referee, as contemplated and authorized in Rule 53, does not implicate “the court’s power to render the particular judgment requested” or “the court’s ability, when it has subject matter jurisdiction, to grant equitable and legal relief to a party.” An order of reference is not a “judgment.” It is not “equitable or legal relief to a party.” It is simply a procedural mechanism to appoint a master or referee to serve in the role of trial judge in a particular case. That by no means implicates the

Circuit Court’s jurisdiction of any type, whether the order of reference is signed by a judge or the clerk on behalf of the Circuit Court.

In *Limehouse*, the state court’s “power” jurisdiction was implicated because only one court—the federal court—had the power to act once the case had been removed and not fully remanded. 404 S.C. at 109-10, 744 S.E.2d at 575. Here, there is no struggle over which court had the power to act. A special referee is the Circuit Court. *Limehouse* simply does not apply.

Even if “power” jurisdiction were implicated, it would not mean that the Andersons can object to the Order of Reference at any time. That the power to render a particular judgment is part of a court’s “jurisdiction” does not equate it to subject matter jurisdiction for purposes of waiver and issue preservation. On the contrary, just like a challenge to personal jurisdiction may be waived, so too can an objection to the court’s power to enter a particular judgment. *See Wellin v. Wellin*, 427 S.C. 15, 24-25, 828 S.E.2d 767, 772 (Ct. App. 2019) (“A defendant may waive any complaints he may have regarding personal jurisdiction by failing to object to the lack of personal jurisdiction and by appearing to defend his case.”); *Coon v. Coon*, 364 S.C. 563, 566-69, 614 S.E.2d 616, 617-18 (2005) (distinguishing between “subject matter jurisdiction” and a court’s “authority” to grant particular relief and concluding that a judgment entered without subject matter jurisdiction is void but a judgment entered without authority is not void).

The Andersons cite to *Chabek v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 303 S.C. 26, 397 S.E. 786 (Ct. App. 1990). (Br. of App. p. 17). The Chabeks filed a bad faith action, the case was referred to the master, and they later filed a separate action to reform the policy that the master then also ruled upon. 303 S.C. at 27, 397 S.E.2d at 787. This Court held “the master lacked **subject matter jurisdiction**” on the reformation action because “[u]ntil an action is commenced, . . . there is

nothing to refer.” *Id.* at 27-28, 397 S.E.2d at 787 (emphasis added). Because *Chabek* did not involve the court’s authority to render a judgment, it does not support the Andersons’ argument.

Because the Andersons’ challenge to the Order of Reference is not jurisdictional, they were required to raise it prior to a post-trial motion hearing. Since they failed to timely object, the Court should affirm the Special Referee’s holding that the Andersons waived a challenge to his authority.

**III. The Clerk of Court properly entered the Order of Reference and conferred authority to the Special Referee to rule on all matters related to this action.**

Even if timely appealed and not waived, the Anderson’s challenge to the Order of Reference is legally incorrect. The Clerk of Court, empowered by statutes and rules of civil procedure, properly signed the Order of Reference in this case. It is long-standing, decades-old practice throughout South Carolina for a Clerk of Court to sign an order of reference to a special referee. This Court should affirm the validity of the Order of Reference and the Special Referee’s subsequently-issued orders in this case because the Clerk of Court may sign an order of reference to a special referee when a defendant is in default, with or without that defendant’s consent.

While subject matter jurisdiction is not at issue in this appeal, Respondent agrees that the Court’s review of jurisdiction in this case is a question of law to which a de novo standard applies. *Deborah Dereede Living Tr. v. Karp*, 427 S.C. 336, 346, 831 S.E.2d 435, 441 (Ct. App. 2019).

**A. Rule 53, SCRPC, expressly allows a Clerk of Court to refer a case in default to a Special Referee without a defendant’s consent.**

“In an action where the parties consent, **in a default case, or** an action for foreclosure, some or all of the causes of action in a case may be referred to a master or special referee by order of a circuit judge **or the clerk of court.**” Rule 53(b), SCRPC (emphasis added). Under Rule 53(b), there are three situations when a clerk of court may refer a case to a special referee—with consent, in default, or in a foreclosure. The rule does not require a defaulting party’s consent for referral by a clerk of court. On the contrary, the Notes to Rule 53 expressly state “the authority of the clerk

of court to issue orders of reference in default cases **and** where all the parties consent.” Rule 53, SCRCF (notes to 1994 Amendment) (emphasis added). This is consistent with the plain language of the rule and with the Judicial Department<sup>2</sup> and Clerks of Court’s decades-long interpretation and application of Rule 53. This Court should apply the plain language of Rule 53(b) and affirm the validity of the Order of Reference.

**B. The Supreme Court already ruled that consent is not required.**

In *Roche v. Young Brothers*, 332 S.C. 75, 504 S.E.2d 311 (1998), the Supreme Court ruled that consent is not required to refer an action in default to a special referee. The Special Referee cited to *Roche* as support for finding the order of reference valid, and this Court should do the same. (R. pp. 61-63).

*Roche* was a second appeal in a default case. The defendants failed to answer, went into default, and, without notice to them, the circuit court held a damages hearing and entered judgment. 332 S.C. at 78-79, 504 S.E.2d at 312. After the circuit court denied their Rule 60(b), SCRCF, motion to set aside the judgment, the defendants appealed. *Id.* at 79, 504 S.E.2d at 312. The Supreme Court upheld the entry of default but vacated the judgment and awarded a new damages hearing because of the failure to give the defendants notice of the hearing. *Id.*

On remand, the plaintiff filed an *ex parte* motion for referral to a special referee, and the circuit court granted the motion. *Id.* On appeal after entry of a judgment by the special referee, the Court of Appeals held that “when there is a defaulting party who has made an appearance before the court, the plain language of Rule 53(a), SCRCF, requires agreement between the parties

---

<sup>2</sup> The South Carolina Judicial Department’s clerk of court manual states that “**in a default case . . . some or all of the causes of action in a case may be referred to a master or special referee by order of a circuit judge or the clerk of court.**” <https://www.sccourts.org/clerkOfCourtManual/displaychapter.cfm?chapter=6#6.4.5>, § 6.4.5. (emphasis added).

as to the identity of the special referee.” *Roche v. Young Bros.*, 326 S.C. 488, 492, 485 S.E.2d 110, 112 (Ct. App. 1997), *rev’d by Roche*, 332 S.C. 75, 504 S.E.2d 311.

The Supreme Court reversed. It began by addressing S.C. Code Ann. § 14-11-60, which states, in part, that “[i]n case of a vacancy in the office of master-in-equity or in case of the disqualification or disability of the master-in-equity from interest or any other reason for which cause can be shown the presiding circuit court judge, **upon agreement of the parties**, may appoint a special referee.” § 14-11-60 (emphasis added). The Court then compared § 14-11-60 to the language in Rule 53(a) referring to the special master as “a person agreed upon by the parties” and in Rule 53(b) which allows “a judge or the clerk of court” to refer a case “where the parties consent **or** in a default case.” *Roche*, 332 S.C. at 80-81, 504 S.E.2d at 313-14 (citing Rule 53(a)-(b), SCRCPP) (original emphasis omitted, emphasis added). The Court then identified the “problem:” “Section 14-11-60 and Rule 53(a) seem to require, without exception, the agreement of the parties prior to the appointment of a special referee. Rule 53(b), on the other hand, suggests that consent is not required in a default situation.” *Id.* at 81, 504 S.E.2d at 314.

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